RECEIVED

May 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-001151

Herbert Smalls,.....Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,..... Respondent.

PETITIONER’S BRIEF

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Petitioner

Joshua Edwards
S.C. Attorney General’s Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-0386

Counsel for Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the circuit court erred in finding the plea transcript was sufficiently reconstructed.
- II. The PCR Court Erred in Concluding Petitioner's Guilty Plea was Knowingly and Voluntarily Given, and his Plea Counsel was not Ineffective.
- III. Whether Judge Young's order found the plea hearing record had been sufficiently reconstructed was immediately appealable.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The convoluted procedural background of this case is remarkable. In 2007, Petitioner was indicted on unrelated charges of murder and attempted armed robbery. He was represented by Alex Apostolou on the attempted armed robbery and David Horton was appointed to represent him on the murder. App. 192, 217. He ultimately pled guilty to the murder¹ on August 2, 2010, before the Honorable Roger M. Young. App. 10. Judge Young sentenced him to forty years' incarceration. App. 10. Through plea counsel, he filed a timely notice of appeal and a written explanation pursuant to Rule 203 (d)(1)(B)(iv) arguing the language of Section 16-3-20 of the South Carolina Code did not allow a range of punishment but mandated a sentence of either life imprisonment or thirty years' imprisonment. App. 32-37. The court of appeals dismissed the appeal by order dated October 14, 2010, on issue preservation grounds. App. 38-39. Remittitur was sent November 8, 2010. App. 14.

Apparently unaware this appeal had occurred, Petitioner filed a pro se application for post-conviction relief (PCR) September 10, 2013, alleging plea counsel failed to file an appeal on his behalf and he had not voluntarily waived his right to an appeal. App. 2-3. He subsequently amended his application March 7, 2014, to add the following additional claims:

- 1) Counsel's failure to advise applicant that upon the Court's acceptance of a guilty plea applicant waives the right to attack his conviction on grounds of insufficient evidence; and to all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses. Including an assertion that he is innocent; that an admission of guilt was coerced; that any claim of a search was unconstitutional or was denied a right to a speedy trial.
- 2) Counsel's failure to "object" to the State's presentation of Indictment No: 2007-GS-10-13708, for said document does not support a finding that – twelve (12) grand jurors reviewed and voted to "TRUE BILL" the document.

¹ The attempted armed robbery charge was nolle-prosequed. App. 202.

- 3) Counsel's failure to advise applicant that upon his entered plea of guilty, he waives any and all potential double jeopardy claims for his plea to be valid.
- 4) Counsel's failure to request a competence hearing prior to applicant's plea.
- 5) APPELLATE counsel ineffective for failing to request, trial transcripts and court documents in appellate procedures, but instead, chose to inform the appeal's court, on appeal that: "There is no issue under Rule 203(B)(IV), SCACR which counsel can identify as a basis for the appeal."

App. 22–23 (citations omitted). The State filed its return and motion to dismiss the application as untimely on March 12, 2014. App. 27. On March 13, 2014, the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald signed a conditional order of dismissal finding the application untimely and allotting twenty days for Petitioner to show why the order should not become final. App. 80–83. Petitioner filed an "Objection to Conditional Order of Dismissal" March 31, 2014, followed by a "Motion for Summary Judgment" June 12, 2014. App. 85–95. The Honorable R. Markley Dennis issued a final order filed January 22, 2015, denying and dismissing the application. App. 103-106.

Petitioner filed a pro se notice of appeal in the Supreme Court of South Carolina and an explanation pursuant to Rule 243(c), SCACR as to why his application should not have been dismissed as untimely. App. 107, 113–128. By order dated April 28, 2015, the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal and remanded for a hearing pursuant to *Ferguson v. State*, 382 S.C. 615, 677 S.E.2d 600 (2009), to determine whether his incapacity prevented him from timely filing his application. App. 141. Pursuant to this order, the Honorable Michael G. Nettles held a *Ferguson* hearing December 7, 2017. Evidence presented at the *Ferguson* hearing was that when tested at fifteen, Petitioner had an intelligence quotient of between forty-eight and fifty-two. App. 148. Although the forensic psychologist indicated his perception of Petitioner during his interview for the 2017 hearing was likely now somewhere north of fifty, he was also not entirely convinced of

Petitioner's literacy. App. 153, 158. Judge Nettles concluded Petitioner's "intellectual deficiencies and mood disorder would impair his capacity to recognize deadlines, execute a legal document and meet the deadlines for executing the legal instruments" and observed that Petitioner is "a moderately retarded individual who is heavily medicated on Depakote and Risperdal." App. 171. He denied the State's motion to dismiss Petitioner's application and ordered an evidentiary hearing by order filed February 1, 2018. App. 175-79.

Through counsel, Petitioner again amended his PCR application June 25, 2018 alleging:

Applicant's guilty plea was not entered knowingly and voluntarily. Trial counsel was on notice that Applicant had diminished intellectual capabilities. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to ensure that Defendant: fully understood the State's Rule 5 disclosures; fully understood his trial rights; fully understood the rights he would waive [by] pleading guilty; and, fully understood the consequences of his guilty plea. Trial counsel was on notice that Applicant had diminished intellectual capabilities.

App. 183. He simultaneously filed a motion to reconstruct the guilty plea transcript. App. 182. Judge Young granted the motion to reconstruct the transcript July 6, 2018. App. 184-187. A hearing was held before Judge Young to reconstruct the plea on February 9, 2021, after which Judge Young issued an order finding the transcript sufficiently reconstructed to allow meaningful appellate and collateral review. App. 233-37. An evidentiary hearing was then held before the Honorable Clifton Newman on March 22, 2021. Judge Newman ultimately denied and dismissed the application for PCR by order filed August 2, 2022. App. 336-39. This Court granted Petitioner's petition for a writ of certiorari on March 19, 2024. This Petitioner's Brief timely follows.

Relevant Facts

The reconstruction hearing was held February 9, 2021, over a decade after Petitioner’s August 2, 2010 guilty plea. Petitioner’s plea counsel, David Horton, was unavailable for the reconstruction hearing.² App. 192. Testimony was taken from Julie Cardillo, who had prosecuted the plea that day.³ She stated she “[did not] recall the plea, the guilty plea hearing” and indicated she did not recall that Judge Young took the plea, or that Mr. Horton was defense counsel; she only knew that from the paperwork she had reviewed. App. 194, 195, 200. Ms. Cardillo did recall “bits and pieces” of the facts of the case about blood in the chest cavity and a bicycle, but she admitted that she was thirty weeks pregnant at the time and “would have been more of a second sit back and help as little as [she] could.” App. 197–98. As to the plea, Ms. Cardillo could only speak to how Judge Young typically handled a plea, she could not recall specifics as to whether there was any mention of mental disability or whether Petitioner was asked if he was coerced into the plea, was satisfied with his attorney, or if he asked for additional time to speak with his attorney. App. 198–200, 206. She could not recall whether defense counsel offered any argument in mitigation. App. 201.

Judge Young was similarly candid in noting he “[had] no specific recollection of [the plea].” App. 209. He stated his usual practice and what he typically asked defendants during the plea colloquy and what he would generally do if there was an issue of competency or influence of

² Mr. Horton is no longer a member of the South Carolina Bar and it was indicated that he suffers from some mental issues that prevented him from assisting in any hearing related to these proceedings. App. 244.

³ Gregory Voigt was the prosecutor for this case up until the plea. App. 222, 242. Ms. Cardillo stepped in because he fell ill. App. 257.

drugs. App. 209–15. Judge Young indicated he had no memory of why he sentenced Petitioner to forty years’ imprisonment and acknowledged that he would typically do at least 100 pleas a week and, understandably, as a matter of self-preservation he would purposefully forget about them. App. 215–16. Judge Young recognized that “[n]obody remembers a specific thing[t]hey just remember what we usually do.” App. 224.

Mr. Apostolou, who represented Petitioner on the attempted armed robbery charge pending against Petitioner when he was charged with murder, also testified at the hearing. App. 217. Mr. Apostolou and Mr. Holton had met with Mr. Voigt about a possible plea deal and went together to speak with Petitioner, after which Mr. Horton had assumed the case was going to trial. App. 221. He indicated he had been on vacation the week prior to the plea, and went to the courthouse to offer Mr. Horton any help with the trial but was “shocked” to see Petitioner plea. App. 218, 219. Mr. Apostolou testified that he did not remember anything Mr. Horton may have said in mitigation but was really just “shocked that it had turned around in such a short period.” App. 220.

In closing, Petitioner argued that the reconstruction was incomplete, and he was prejudiced in that there was no positive recollection as to whether the issues of his mental health were addressed at the plea and there was absolutely no testimony as to what Mr. Horton may have said at the plea (or not) in mediation. App. 226–27. Judge Young ultimately disagreed and stated the record was “reconstructed adequately,” but based this finding on the conclusion that that this was the best reconstruction that they could do, not that the transcript was particularly accurate or informative. App. 230 (“I think it’s been reconstructed. This is what I would have normally done. This is what Ms. Cardillo remembers that she would normally do and that I normally did. We don’t

have Mr. Holton's availability. We don't have any other evidence so this is the reconstruction."); *see* App. 228-29 ("And I think all I can do on this is to say, let's have a transcript made up, and I will say this is what the transcript shows. This is my recollection of what happened, Ms. Cardillo's recollection of what happened, Mr. Holton is unavailable due to illness and cannot assist us, and this is what we have."); App. 231 ("I've always found these to be a little problematical because almost by definition you don't have them and everybody just kind of says, well, I don't remember. This is what I usually do. So I can't do anything more.").

The case eventually proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on Petitioner's PCR claims. At the PCR hearing, Mr. Voigt, who had been the assigned assistant solicitor on the murder case, testified that in reviewing his old file, he noticed that there were no investigative supplements or any work product from a detective. App. 248. He stated that on a murder case in North Charleston, he would have expected the work of multiple detectives working in collaboration. App. 249. Initially, another suspect had been arrested and was then "un-arrested" after he proved he had been incarcerated at the time of the murder. App. 249. Mr. Voigt discussed how in preparing for trial he learned about an attempted identification with a witness incarcerated in Greenville County that ended with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office asking the North Charleston detectives to leave without any positive identification of Petitioner. App. 250-51. Mr. Voigt stated that the evidence available in the homicide case was the codefendant's testimony inculcating Petitioner.⁴ App. 260. He indicated, however, that he had never viewed the case as a trial based on Petitioner's record. App. 252. He stated he recalled Mr. Horton indicating to him that "this is

⁴ Curiously, the affidavit supporting probable cause to arrest Petitioner references a signed written confession. App. 13. This was never mentioned at the hearings and instead the evidence showed Petitioner has consistently denied his involvement.

definitely a plea” and he just needed to have something to convince his client to take the plea. App. 253. Because that did not happen and the case ended up set for trial, the plea was straight up. App. 255.

Petitioner also testified. He stated he only met with Mr. Horton twice and the second time he saw him was right before court. App. 263. Petitioner explained they never went over any discovery, but Mr. Horton told him he was looking at a life sentence so he should plead guilty. App. 264. He said he had wanted to go to trial. and his family had asked Mr. Horton to take it to trial, but Petitioner ended up pleading because that is what his attorney told him to do. App. 264. He stated that at the plea, his sister had told the judge that she wanted him to be evaluated. App. 266. Petitioner testified he sustained a head injury when he was young, he has been on medication to treat his mental health issues since he was a child, and had been in special education all his life due to his learning disability. App. 266–67. He had only finished ninth grade because that was around when he was in the car accident that resulted in his head injury and at that point, he was homebound. App. 276.

Petitioner indicated he was not fully aware of the weakness of the case against him until his uncle filed the paperwork to get the Rule 5 disclosures. App. 270. He testified he was not sure if he obtained the information from the court or the solicitor because his family handles all his writing for him. App. 272. He stated his sister told the judge at the plea that he was on multiple medications at which point the court asked Mr. Horton if they were ready to proceed; Mr. Horton told him to go ahead and take the plea, so he did. App. 274.

Mr. Apostolou testified as well and discussed how he and Mr. Horton went to see Mr. Voigt to try to come to a resolution for both cases. App. 280. His recollection was that the murder case

was very weak, and the attempted armed robbery was the stronger case. App. 280. Mr. Apostolou recalled an offer of around twelve or fourteen years. App. 281. He testified that he and Mr. Horton went to talk to Petitioner afterwards and Petitioner responded that “he didn’t do the murder and he didn’t want to plead to case he didn’t do” so the case was set for trial. App. 281. He reiterated multiple times that he was shocked when Petitioner pled guilty. App. 281, 284, 287. He stated that he was aware Petitioner was not a very sophisticated defendant, but he did not feel he needed to have him evaluated. App. 282–83. He noted further that he did not quite understand why Mr. Holton was not going to trial because he was a very good attorney. App. 292.

In its own questioning, the PCR court referenced Mr. Horton experiencing “troubles,” and asked Mr. Apostolou, “When did he disappear or when did he begin to have his troubles or when were you made aware of his mental health issues?” App. 292. Mr. Apostolou noted that at some point during a meeting with Mr. Horton, he found out Mr. Horton had shut down his office and was meeting clients at a coffee shop. App. 292. He explained that Mr. Horton was not “around the scene” after that and he then heard Mr. Horton had stopped practicing entirely. App. 292. Although Mr. Apostolou could not remember the exact timing of his conversation with Mr. Horton, he noted his meeting may have been in the context of Petitioner’s case. App. 292.

Judge Newman ultimately denied and dismissed the application for PCR by order filed August 2, 2022. App. 336–39. In it he determined he was not empowered to reconsider the adequacy of the reconstruction after Judge Young had ruled on it. App. 331. He further found that Petitioner had failed to prove his plea was involuntary or that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. This appeal followed.

ANALYSIS

I. The Circuit Court Erred in Finding the Plea Transcript was Sufficiently Reconstructed.

The trial court erred in finding that the reconstructed record was adequate for collateral review. The record is essentially a recitation of what the solicitor and the trial court would ideally have said and lacks any information on what plea counsel said or did at the hearing—information fundamental to the inquiry of whether representation was constitutionally deficient. Therefore, the record is inadequate to allow for review and Petitioner is prejudiced because of it.

“Where a transcript has been lost or destroyed, a court may remand to have the record reconstructed.” *Koon v. State*, 358 S.C. 359, 367, 595 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2004), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). A reconstructed record must provide for meaningful review. *State v. Ladson*, 373 S.C. 320, 325, 644 S.E.2d 271, 274 (Ct. App. 2007). However, if the state of the transcript is so incomplete as to prevent meaningful review, the Court should remand for a new trial. *Id.*

In considering whether the reconstructed transcript allowed for meaningful review, *State v. Ladson*, is instructive. Although *Ladson* involved the reconstruction of a trial, not a guilty plea, the critical challenges that obviated the production of an adequate record are similar. In *Ladson*, the defendant was convicted of first-degree burglary after a three-day trial and timely appealed and requested a copy of the transcript. 373 S.C. at 321, 644 S.E.2d at 271. Ten months later, the court reporter disclosed that there was no record of the proceeding to produce the transcript. *Id.* The Court of Appeals remanded the case for a reconstruction and the trial court convened a hearing over a year later to reconstruct the record. *Id.* At the hearing, “[t]he information provided by the State was conclusory” and the trial court no longer had his written notes but instead deferred

entirely to the State's summations. *Id.* at 322, 644 S.E.2d at 272. However, the State's recollection was imperfect and entirely forgot about one of its witnesses. *Id.* There was even disagreement about whether the defendant testified, with the defendant saying he did not, and the trial court convinced he had and that his testimony was not credible. *Id.* at 322–23, 644 S.E.2d at 272. The trial court also incorrectly remembered that the verdict was delivered the same day deliberations began, but the State showed that the jury verdict was signed the next day. *Id.* at 232, 644 S.E.2d at 272.

In determining the record on appeal was insufficient for review, the Court of Appeals first observed that “[d]espite these good faith efforts, the reconstructed record is largely conclusory, with testimony, objections, and the like recalled only in summary fashion.” *Id.* It then turned to the question of whether the defendant suffered prejudice from the inadequacies of the record and concluded that “[t]o hold this record is sufficient would guarantee the affirmance of Ladson's conviction and twenty-five-year non-parolable sentence without a genuine review.” *Id.* at 327, 644 S.E.2d at 274. Accepting a record lacking “the completeness and reliability necessary for this court to engage in meaningful appellate review,” the Court would be “constrained to affirm” and the defendant would be effectively precluded from pursuing any subsequent collateral review. *Id.* at 327–28, 644 S.E.2d at 274–75.

As in *Ladson*, the entirety of the proceeding here was missing. Over a decade had elapsed since the plea and the solicitor and trial court did not simply have poor recollection, they had no memory of the proceeding. Both merely offered suppositions and generalizations at how it probably would have flowed given how they generally handled pleas. No one remembered what plea counsel said at the hearing or if he addressed Petitioner's mental health issues to the court—

not even Mr. Apostolou, who was the only person at the reconstruction who had any memory of the event. App. 219–220. As such, the reconstructed transcript is the product of mere guesswork, which Judge Young recognized, he simply decided it was all they could do.

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