RECEIVED

Aug 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001151

HERBERT SMALLS

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101188

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court correctly denied relief because Smalls failed to prove his guilty plea was involuntary.

Smalls pleaded guilty in open court to murder. This case presents a question which has been addressed by courts for decades: “whether, years later, defendants must be permitted to withdraw their pleas, which were perfectly valid when made, and be given another choice between admitting their guilt and putting the State to its proof.” McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 773 (1970). In this PCR action, Smalls carried the burden of showing his plea was not intelligently and voluntarily made due to ineffective assistance of counsel. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 302, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). Evidence supports the lower court’s finding that he failed to do so. Even though the record of the plea hearing is lost, the existing record—which includes testimony reconstructing the plea hearing and evidence adduced at the PCR evidentiary hearing regarding Smalls’s mental capacity—is sufficient to assess his claim. This Court should affirm.

a. The PCR court’s finding that the record is sufficiently reconstructed is not immediately appealable.

In its order granting certiorari, this Court directed the parties to brief whether the PCR court’s finding that the record of Smalls’s guilty plea was adequately reconstructed was immediately appealable. The State agrees with Smalls that the order was not immediately appealable. Such an order does not involve the merits of the case, does not constitute a final judgment, and does not effectively determine the outcome of the case. See S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. Instead, it “simply decides the case should proceed” Watson v. Underwood, 407

S.C. 443, 457, 756 S.E.2d 155, 162 (Ct. App. 2014); see also Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 195, 607 S.E.2d 707, 709 (2005) (“An order which does not finally end a case or prevent a final judgment from which a party may seek appellate review usually is considered an interlocutory order from which no immediate appeal is allowed.”). The lower court’s order finding the record was adequately reconstructed merely allowed the PCR court to rule on Small’s claims. Because Smalls can now appeal the lower court’s judgment, his substantial rights were not affected. Judge Young’s order was not immediately appealable.

b. The reconstructed record of Smalls's plea is sufficient to assess his claim.

The reconstructed record of Smalls's guilty plea is sufficient to enable meaningful review of his claim that counsel provided ineffective assistance such that his plea was not knowing and voluntary. Unlike when a trial transcript is lost, there is little mystery about what occurred at Smalls’s plea: the plea court advised Smalls of the rights he was waiving and Smalls admitted he was guilty. The lower court did not need a verbatim transcript of this largely boilerplate proceeding to assess Smalls’s claims.

Guilty pleas are presumed to be valid. Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 20, 813 S.E.2d 704, 714–15 (2018) (Few, J., concurring) (explaining “it is the applicant's burden to demonstrate the plea was not valid”). A lost transcript is not, in itself, a sufficient reason to set aside a valid guilty plea. United States v. Dickerson, 901 F.2d 579, 583 (7th Cir. 1990) (explaining “an untranscribed court proceeding does not, in and of itself, require a holding that a guilty plea was infirm”); see also

Norvell v. Illinois, 373 U.S. 420, 424 (1963) (“When, through no fault of the State, transcripts of criminal trials are no longer available because of the death of the court reporter, some practical accommodation must be made.”); Jackson v. State, 826 N.E.2d 120, 129 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005) (explaining “the mere fact that the transcript of his plea hearing is missing and no one present at the hearing can remember details of it does not warrant relief from the 1979 plea. Instead, the validity of the plea is presumed”). The question is whether the reconstructed record is sufficient to enable “meaningful appellate review.” State v. Ladson, 373 S.C. 320, 325, 644 S.E.2d 271, 274 (Ct. App. 2007).

When the transcript of a guilty plea is lost, the appellate court should examine “the custom, practice and law applicable to . . . guilty pleas and if possible the particular court’s practice to determine whether the plea was an intelligent and voluntary waiver.” Dickerson, 901 F.2d at 583; see also Com. v. Quinones, 414 Mass. 423, 432, 608 N.E.2d 724, 730 (1993) (“We see no impropriety, moreover, in relying on a judge’s customary practice in taking guilty pleas to reconstruct the record.”). “If the defendant’s ‘intelligent awareness’ can be reasonably inferred from this evidence, then the plea passes muster.” United States v. DeForest, 946 F.2d 523, 526 (7th Cir. 1991).

Unlike trials, guilty pleas follow a predictable, consistent procedure. Cf. Ladson, 373 S.C. at 327, 644 S.E.2d at 274 (finding trial record could not be constructed where judge and attorneys could not remember specifics of the “lengthy multi-day and fact-intensive trial” and appellate court was “left with a few

gratuitous references to generic motions and objections, but we do not know the context of the motions, the specific nature of the motions, and whether the challenged evidence was cumulative to other unchallenged evidence”). Certain constitutionally-required findings regarding the waiver of trial rights are made in every plea hearing. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243 (1969). Circuit court judges take hundreds of guilty pleas every year, and Judge Young testified he invariably followed the same procedure in each plea hearing.

There is even more justification for not requiring precise reconstruction in PCR cases. PCR cases always depend on retrospective testimony to “reconstruct” the interactions between attorneys and criminal defendants during the course of the representation. Most of these interactions will never be recorded. Instead, the PCR court must rely on the memories of the applicant, his attorney, and other witnesses to determine what happened. Typically, the trial or plea transcript is a part of record before the PCR court. But, as discussed above, the absence of a plea hearing transcript in itself does not prevent the PCR court, or an appellate court, from analyzing a claim of an involuntary guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel.

At the reconstruction hearing, Judge Young explained his normal procedure for accepting guilty pleas. Judge Young explained he consults a checklist for guilty pleas and that he always advises defendants of their rights when they plead guilty. App. 209–11. He also requires defendants to affirm they understand their trial rights and that they are forfeiting those rights by pleading guilty. App. 211. He

further explained that he always inquires whether defendants are under the influence of drugs or alcohol and whether they understand what they are doing. App. 212–13. He explained he would have expected that plea counsel Holton would have voiced any concerns about Smalls's mental health or medications he was taking because Holton was an “excellent lawyer.” Judge Young explained he always follows up if there is any concern about whether medication affected the defendant's ability to understand what he is doing. App. 212–13. He explained that “obviously, if there was an issue about competency to stand trial or plead, we wouldn't go any further.” App. 213.

Judge Young further explained in detail his normal plea procedure, and that he always makes a finding that the plea was made knowingly and voluntarily. App. 214–15. He concluded: “I wouldn't have let the plea go forward if I didn't think Mr. Holton had done everything properly.” App. 225. Judge Young elaborated:

And if I had any indication that he . . . either had a condition or was taking medication, I would have followed that up and . . . would have been satisfied that he had either been tested, a doctor said he had capacity, or if the lawyer had said, well, I didn't think that was necessary, but I do want to bring to your attention that he . . . sometimes it's depression or, you know, sometimes it's schizophrenia is a whole other thing. But sometimes people are taking a lot of different kinds of medication. And if I'd had any indication that he was taking medication or had been advised that he was taking medication, you know, that's how I would have addressed it was to inquire as to what it was, when he had taken it last, was it the prescribed amount. And I almost always say, tell me what you're doing here, when they assure me they know what they're doing. And, again, before I go to the next step, I'm satisfied. And I would have gotten an affirmative response to asking Mr. Holton if he felt like his client knew what he was doing, because that's part of my standard question. Even in cases [where] there aren't mental health issues, but especially if there are mental health issues, I usually ask them twice, as well as make a finding that they are. . . . I would not

have allowed a hearing or a sentence to go forward had I not checked off all those blocks, you know, that I set up along the way in different phases.

App. 227–29.

Assistant Solicitor Julie Cardillo represented the State at Smalls’s guilty plea and testified at the reconstruction hearing. App. 193. She testified she did not remember the specifics of Smalls’s plea, but testified to Judge Young’s normal practice in accepting guilty pleas, which typically included the defendant admitting guilt and stating that his plea was not coerced. App. 196–99. She testified Judge Young would have stopped the plea if he was concerned about Smalls having an intellectual disability or being under the influence of drugs or alcohol. App. 199. She testified: “I always recall Judge Young being very . . . not rushing through anything, in my opinion, ensuring . . . all rights of both sides were followed.” App. 202–03.

Assistant Solicitor Gregory Voigt was the lead prosecutor on Smalls’s case, but did not represent the State at the plea hearing because he was sick. App. 257. He did not testify at the reconstruction hearing, but was called as a witness at the PCR evidentiary hearing. He testified he had done more than 50 pleas in front of Judge Young and that Judge Young’s plea colloquies were “exactly what one should expect given [the] Boykin [vs.] Alabama case.” App 256.

Finally, Attorney Alex Apostolou was present at Smalls’s plea and presented the most concrete evidence at the reconstruction hearing. App. 216. At the time of Smalls’s plea, Apostolou was representing Smalls on an attempted armed robbery

charge which was later dismissed. App. 217. He attended Smalls's plea hearing and was interested in the outcome. Apostolou did not recall any mental health issues being discussed at the plea. App. 219. He testified that "if that topic . . . had been opened in the courtroom, it would have been explored." App. 220. Apostolou testified at the PCR evidentiary hearing that, from his memory, Smalls's plea was consistent with Judge Young's normal plea procedure. App. 279. Crucially, Apostolou remembered that Smalls "agreed with the facts" following the solicitor's recitation of the factual basis at the plea hearing. App. 281.

In light of these facts, it is not credible to allege that anything out of the ordinary happened at Smalls's plea hearing. As the PCR court remarked: "there's no way I would take a guilty plea on a murder case without making certain that the person is satisfied with the representation of the lawyers, you know, no promises have been made regarding a sentence. That he is in fact guilty, and of course Mr. Apostolou said he did acknowledge guilt." App. 316.

What happened at the plea hearing is a question of fact, the PCR court's determination of which must be affirmed if there is any evidence to support it. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Smalls argues the PCR court could not say what "actually" happened, only what "probably" happened. Brief of Petitioner at 22. In doing so, Smalls is arguing with the lower court's factual findings. By finding Judge Young followed his typical plea procedure, the PCR court determined what actually happened. Judge Young's testimony at the reconstruction hearing, as well as that of Apostolou and Cardillo, support the PCR

court's finding. This Court is bound by those findings. Vickery v. State, 258 S.C. 33, 35, 186 S.E.2d 827, 827 (1972) (“A lower court's factual finding that a guilty plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered is binding upon the appellate court.”). This record, when combined with the other testimony presented at the PCR hearing, is sufficient for this Court to assess the PCR court's ruling that Smalls failed to prove his plea was involuntary.

What is important in this case is whether plea counsel acted in such a way that he improperly caused the applicant to plead guilty involuntarily or unintelligently. This Court does not need a verbatim transcript of the plea hearing—which, according to the facts adduced at the reconstruction hearing, was almost certainly a normal, run-of-the-mill hearing—to assess that claim. See Adams v. Wise, No. 1:21-CV-01248-JMC, 2022 WL 788873, at 4 (D.S.C. Mar. 15, 2022) (denying habeas relief from reconstructed plea hearing where testimony showed hearing was “basically a standard plea”). In addition to the credible evidence about Judge Young's normal plea procedure, the PCR court had the benefit of Alex Apostolou's first-hand account of the plea hearing, including the fact that Smalls admitted his guilt to the plea court. More importantly, the Court has the evidence Smalls presented at the PCR evidentiary hearing about what happened leading up to the plea, which is more probative to his claim than the more or less boilerplate proceedings of the plea hearing. The record is sufficient to enable review of Smalls's claim.

c. Smalls failed to prove that his attorney was ineffective such that his plea was not intelligently and voluntarily made.

Evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Smalls failed to prove his attorney provided ineffective assistance such that it caused him to plead guilty unintelligently or involuntarily. Smalls vaguely asserts that his attorney's representation, combined with his diminished intellectual capabilities, caused him to plead guilty involuntarily. However, Smalls fails to credibly identify any coercive actions, misrepresentations, or other unprofessional errors by his attorney, apart from his dubious claim that he only saw Holton twice before he pleaded guilty and Holton did not discuss any of the evidence with him. Crucially, Smalls never testified that he did not understand he was giving up his trial rights by pleading guilty, which is the focus of his argument to this Court. Rather, he essentially testified at the PCR hearing that he pleaded guilty on the advice of counsel. App. 273–75. His testimony itself supports a finding that his plea was voluntary. Likewise, his assertions that his mental health challenges caused him to plead guilty involuntarily are not supported by the evidence, and Smalls failed to demonstrate a lack of understanding at the time of his plea.

The “guilty plea and the often concomitant plea bargain are important components of this country's criminal justice system. Properly administered, they can benefit all concerned. . . . These advantages can be secured, however, only if dispositions by guilty plea are accorded a great measure of finality.” Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 71 (1977). “More often than not a prisoner has everything to gain and nothing to lose from filing a collateral attack upon his guilty plea. If he

succeeds in vacating the judgment of conviction, retrial may be difficult.”

Blackledge, 431 U.S. at 71–72. “A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge). A valid guilty plea “must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases.” Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 469–71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129–30 (2014).

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